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TRIBECA EAST HISTORIC DISTRICT BOUNDARIES

The Tribeca East Historic District consists of the property bounded by a
line beginning at a point on the southeast corner of West Broadway and Franklin
Street, extending easterly along the southern curbline of Franklin Street,
southerly along the western property line of 107-113 Franklin Street, easterly
along the southern property lines of 103- 113 Franklin Street, northerly along
the eastern property line of 103 Franklin Street, easterly along the southern
curbline of Franklin Street, easterly along a line extending easterly from the
southern curbline of Franklin Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed
of Church Street, southerly along a line extending down the middle of the
streetbed of Church Street to a point at the center of the intersection with
Worth Street, easterly along a line extending down the center of the streetbed
of Worth Street, northerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern
property line of 83-85 Worth Street, northerly along the eastern property line
of 83-85 Worth Street, westerly along the northern property line of 83-85 Worth
Street, northerly along the eastern property line of 80-82 Leonard Street,
northerly along a line extending northerly from the eastern property line of
80-82 Leonard Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed of Leonard Street,
easterly along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Leonard
Street, northerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern property line
of 87-89 Leornard Street, northerly along part of the eastern property line of
87-89 Leonard Street, westerly along part of the southern property line of 353
Broadway, northerly along the western property lines of 353-357 Broadway,
easterly along part of the northern property line of 355-357 Broadway, northerly
along the western property line of 359 Broadway, westerly along part of the
southern property line of 361-363 Broadway, northerly along the western property
line of 361-363 Broadway, northerly across Franklin Street, northerly along the
eastern curbline of Franklin Place, easterly along the southern curbline of White
Street, easterly along a line extending easterly from the southern curbline of
White Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed of Broadway, southerly
along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Broadway to a point
at the center of the intersection with Franklin Street, easterly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of Franklin Street, northerly along
a line extending southerly from the eastern property line of 54-56 Franklin
Street, northerly along the eastern property line of 54-56 Franklin Street,
easterly along the northern property line of 50-52 Franklin Street, northerly
along the eastern property line of 83-85 White Street, northerly along a line
extending northerly from the eastern property line of 83-85 White Street to a
point in the middle of the streetbed of White Street, westerly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of White Street, northerly along a
line extending southerly from the eastern property line of 80-82 White Street,
northerly along the eastern property line of 80-82 White Street, easterly along
the southern property lines of 81-85 Walker Street, northerly along part of the
eastern property line of 85 Walker Street, easterly along the southern property
line of 87 Walker Street, northerly along the eastern property line of 87 Walker
Street, northerly along a line extending northerly from the eastern property line
of 87 Walker Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed of Walker Street,
westerly along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Walker
Street, northerly along a line extending southerly from the eastern property line
of 78-80 Walker Street, northerly along the eastern property line of 78-80 Walker
Street, westerly along part of the northern property line of 78-80 Walker Street,
northerly along the eastern property line of 268-270 Canal Street, northerly
along a line extending northerly from the eastern property line of 268-270 Canal
Street to a point in the middle of the streetbed of Canal Street, northwesterly
along a line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Canal Street to a



point in the center of the intersection with Church Street, southerly along a
line extending down the middle of the streetbed of Church Street, westerly along
a line extending easterly from the northern curbline of White Street to a point
in the middle of the streetbed of Sixth Avenue, northwesterly along a line
extending down the middle of the streetbed of Sixth Avenue, westerly along a line
extending easterly from the southern property line of 11-15 Sixth Avenue,
westerly along the southern property line of 11-15 Sixth Avenue, southerly along
the eastern property line of 241-243 West Broadway, westerly along the southern
property line of 241-243 West Broadway, southerly along the eastern property line
of 241-243 West Broadway, westerly along the southern property line of 241-243
West Broadway, westerly along a line extending westerly from the southern
property line of 241-243 West Broadway to a point in the middle of the streetbed
of West Broadway, southerly along a line extending down the middle of the
streetbed of West Broadway, easterly along a line extending westerly from the
southern curbline of Franklin Street, to the point of beginning.

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING

On June 13, 1989, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public
hearing on the proposed designation of the Tribeca East Historic District (Item
No. 2). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions
of law. Forty-four people offered testimony at the public hearing in favor of
the proposed district, including representatives of Congressman Ted Weiss, State
Senator Manfred Ohrenstein, Assemblyman William F. Passannante, Manhattan Borough
President David N. Dinkins, Comptroller Harrison J. Goldin, Councilwoman Miriam
Friedlander, Community Board 1, the Municipal Art Society, the New York Landmarks
Conservancy, the Historic Districts Council, the Tribeca Community Association,
the American Institute of Architects Historic Buildings Committee, the Victorian
Society in America Metropolitan Chapter, and the Women’s City Club of New York.
A representative of the Chambers Canal Civic Association and one private
individual spoke at the hearing in opposition to the proposed district; three
owners or their representatives spoke expressing opposition to the inclusion of
properties in which they held an interest and one of these three opposed the
proposed district. The Commission has also received several hundred letters and
other expressions of support for the proposed historic district. One
representative of an owner of property sent a submission expressing opposition
to the inclusion of this property within the proposed district.



INTRODUCTION

The Tribeca East Historic District, which encompasses 197 buildings and
four undeveloped lots, is located in the area bounded roughly by Canal Street on
the north, Worth Street on the south, and Broadway and Cortlandt Alley on the
east. Church Street forms much of the western boundary of the district, although
blockfronts along Franklin and White Streets extend the district to West
Broadway. The district extends east of Broadway, between Franklin and Canal
Streets, to include buildings on the east side of Cortlandt Alley. While many
of the district’s cast-iron and masonry commercial buildings were erected
beginning at mid-nineteenth century and continuing into the early twentieth
century, when the dry goods district was located in this area, later buildings
in the district -- office buildings and banks -- also served the textile trade.

The Tribeca East Historic District takes its name from the acronym TriBeCa,
for Triangle Below Canal Street. Coined in the mid-1970s as the result of City
Planning studies and the adoption of a Special Lower Manhattan Mixed Use
District, the Tribeca name came to be applied to the area south of Canal Street,
between Broadway and West Street, extending south to Vesey Street, which is
larger than the zoning district. The Tribeca East Historic District has a
distinct and special character within the larger Tribeca area defined by its many
blockfronts of ornate store and loft buildings which reflect the district’s role
as the center for dry goods and related businesses in New York City.

During the decades after textile mills were established in New England with
its abundant sources of water power, American textile markets began to flourish
in New York City and other northern urban centers, where dry goods importers,
general merchants, and wholesalers were concentrated. As New York City developed
as the country’s major port and trading center, a dry goods district sprang up
on Pearl Street near the East River docks. After the disastrous fire of 1835,
these merchants were scattered to various locations around Pearl Street, in
proximity to the South Street seaport. As commercial shipping interests switched
to longer ships and steam boats, it was found that these vessels could not easily
navigate the East River, and new piers on the deeper Hudson River prospered.
Beginning in the 1850s, the dry goods merchants relocated to the area north and
west of Broadway and Chambers Street, allowing competitors to be in close contact
with each other and closer to the Hudson River piers, and offering buyers the
convenience of a central marketplace. That area of the city was transformed into
a new commercial center after the A.T. Stewart Store, the fashionable "Marble
Palace" which housed the first American department store, was built in 1845-46
on the east side of Broadway between Chambers and Reade Streets. During the
early 1850s the first stories of many earlier residences were converted to
commercial use, and some two dozen new store and loft buildings were constructed
by the decade’s end. By the end of the 1860s, the area of the district had been
thoroughly transformed by the rapidly-growing textile trade, which continued to
construct store and loft buildings during the next two decades to meet its needs.

The initial residential character of the area is recalled by No. 2 White
Street (a designated New York City Landmark), which was built around 1808-09,
most likely as a dwelling with a shop at the ground floor. Residences continued
to be constructed in the area throughout the 1830s. Three in particular, within
the boundaries of the district, retain their historic character -- No. 35 Walker
Street (c.1800), No. 74 Franklin Street (1815), and No. 58 Lispenard Street
(1821-22) -- although all were converted to commercial use.

The many store and loft buildings, which now define this district, were
characterized by nineteenth-century critics as palatial and substantial, enabling
New York "to vie with the greatest continental cities of Europe." These
buildings have trabeated cast-iron storefronts, many of which retain such



historic elements as paneled and glazed wood doors, wood-framed transoms, show
windows, roll-down shutters, and stepped vaults. The upper facades are faced
with high-quality materials, such as marble, sandstone, brick, or cast iron, and
terminated by prominent cornices. Multiple signbands and fire escapes were often
attached to these facades. Within the district, there is a significant number
of buildings with cast-iron facades, which include examples of the work of two
important pioneers and disseminators of architectural cast iron in James
Bogardus’s cast-iron fronts for the building at 85 Leonard Street (1860-61) and
in the fourteen buildings in the district that have facades that were
manufactured in whole or in part by Daniel D. Badger’s Architectural Iron Works
foundry between 1854 and 1868. The Cornell family foundry and the Excelsior Iron
Works of George R. Jackson, among others, are also represented in the cast-iron
work in the district. Late examples of cast-iron work include No. 268-270 Canal
Street (1886-87, Lansing C. Holden) and No. 43-45 Walker Street (1888, Charles
C. Haight).

The design of the A.T. Stewart Store (1845-46, Trench & Snook), one of the
first American examples of the "Italianate" style and a turning point in the
commercial architecture of New York, strongly influenced the architectural
character of the district as dry goods businesses that aspired to Stewart’s
success erected modest versions of the Stewart Store. Nearly thirty surviving
store and loft buildings in the district, which were erected between 1851 and
1868, follow closely the Stewart Store model.

Some twenty buildings in the district have a cage-like design quality and
features influenced by Renaissance Venetian palaces, popularized in New York City
by the Bowen & McNamee Store at 112-114 Broadway (c.1849, Joseph C. Wells,
demolished). Over a dozen surviving buildings with such Venetian-derived facades
incorporate two-story "sperm candle" columns in distinctive double-height
arcades, including No. 388 Broadway (1858-59, King & Kellum). There are also a
small number of more utilitarian store and loft buildings in the district which
exhibit such modest Italianate features as curved window lintels and piers or
quoins framing the facades. The influence of Parisian buildings, manifested in
what is known as the Second Empire style, is evident in buildings designed in a
commercial variant of that style and erected between 1864 and 1871. Some
buildings in the district exhibit other variants of the Second Empire style, such
as those where Italianate elements are evident; for example, the cast-iron
fronted No. 8-10 White Street (1869-70, Henry Fernbach), and those with qualities
of Roman palaces, like No. 299-301 Church Street (1867-68, John B. Snook). Later
store and loft buildings erected in the district, from the late 1870s to the
early 1890s, were designed in the then-popular neo-Grec, Queen Anne, and
Renaissance Revival styles. Several important architects, many of whom
specialized in commercial design, were responsible for the ornate yet functional
store and loft buildings in the district, including the firms of John Kellum &
Son, John B. Snook, D. & J. Jardine, Isaac F. Duckworth, Benjamin W. and Samuel
A. Warner, Henry Fernbach, and J. Morgan Slade.

A number of buildings planned to accommodate offices of dry goods-related
firms and other functions were erected around the turn of the century. This
phase of development culminated in the erection of two large corner structures
in the Art Deco style. Among the few twentieth-century structures are small
commercial buildings, two bank buildings, a neo-Expressionist synagogue, and a
high-rise apartment building.

The side streets of the district extending between Broadway and Church
Street, which are filled with nineteenth-century store and loft buildings, form
exceptionally strong streetscapes. Twentieth-century development patterns have
bounded this area by Worth Street on the south and Canal Street on the north,
helping to reinforce the district’s distinct sense of place. The long expanse
of White Street within the district contains buildings which represent the full



historical context of the area -- a few early nineteenth century dwellings
converted at mid-century for commercial use, many five- and six-story store and
loft buildings in a variety of materials and mid-nineteenth-century styles, and
a limited number of late-nineteenth-century structures. The blocks of Broadway
within the district, on which stand some of the district’s finest surviving
Italianate and Second Empire style store and loft buildings, constitute a
significant reminder of the historic mercantile character of that preeminent
thoroughfare. Church Street, which forms much of the western boundary of the
district, contributes to the district’s character with its mid-nineteenth-century
store and loft buildings as well as two taller twentieth-century office
buildings, constructed for tenants associated with the textile trade. The two
small service alleys, Cortlandt Alley and Franklin Place, which are elements of
the early-nineteenth century street plan of the area, add to the district’s
historic character. Both are fronted by side or rear elevations of brick store
and loft buildings which have distinctive iron shutters. Throughout the
district, granite slab sidewalks and streetbeds of granite pavers further
contribute to its historic commercial architectural character.

Marjorie Pearson



HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE TRIBECA EAST HISTORIC DISTRICT

The history of the Tribeca East Historic District is characterized by rapid
development and redevelopment with commercial pressures displacing residential
neighborhoods and pushing the city’s urban limits northward. Progress in the
American textile industry, especially in its production and distribution methods,
combined with these pressures to mold the area into the leading district for dry
goods and related businesses in New York City from the mid-nineteenth through the
early twentieth century. While the development of this market was to a large
extent empowered by the growth of the American textile mills outside of the city,
the business operations of the market located in New York City enabled the
expansion and ultimate success of the industry as a whole.

Early Residential Development!

Throughout the seventeenth and most of the eighteenth centuries, the area
of the Tribeca East Historic District was open marshland. In 1646, Governor
Kieft granted to Jan Jansen Damen forty-five acres of land which came to be known
as the Calk Hook Farm. This property was bounded by the Collect Pond, a forty-
foot-deep body of water located southeast of the district near today’s Foley
Square, and extended into the marshland north and west of the pond to what is
today Canal Street and West Broadway, and south as far as Reade Street. The
property was divided among several individuals after Damen’s death and later,
between 1723 and 1725, was purchased and reassembled by Anthony Rutgers, a city
Alderman and a member of the colonial assembly. While in his possession the area
became known as the Rutgers Farm.? Rutgers wanted to improve the swampland and
the pond adjoining his property and in 1730 petitioned for a grant of that land.
He subsequently received the grant and began to drain the area.

The Rutgers Farm was acquired by Leonard Lispenard in 1746 and was
incorporated into the Lispenard Farm, a portion of the larger area known as
Lispenard Meadows.? Lispenard continued the improvements which Rutgers had
begun. A ditch was dug from the pond through the swampland to the Hudson River.
The ditch was eventually covered over, and Canal Street was laid out along its
path. The filling in of the Collect Pond was completed by 1811. Lispenard’s
property within the area of the district was dispersed by 1812, transferred to
Anthony Lispenard, Rev. Henry Barclay (a son-in-law), Henry White, John Jay,
Peter Jay Munro, John Van Blarcum, Jr., Thomas Duggan, Effingham Embree, and the
City of New York, among others.

Through the eighteenth century, Manhattan’s population was concentrated at
the southern tip of the island, generally below Wall Street. As the city’s
population grew following the Revolutionary War, new residential neighborhoods

IThis section is based on information found in Manual of the Common Council
of the City of New York (New York, 1860) and Frank L. Walton, Tomahawks to
Textiles (New York, 1953).

With this purchase, Rutgers’s landholdings included most of the land west
of Lafayette Street between Chambers and Canal Streets. His residence was
constructed near the current intersection of Broadway and Duane Street, and his
grounds, laid out in geometric gardens, were opened to the public in 1760 as
Ranleigh Gardens. Part of this property was later occupied by the New York
Hospital.

JLispenard had married Rutgers’s daughter, Elsie, in 1741 and acquired the
property upon Rutgers’s death.



developed on the northern outskirts of the city. By 1810, most of the streets
within the present-day historic district had been laid out. The names of the
district’s streets recall the early history of the area.? Broadway, one of the
city’s oldest streets, follows the path of an Indian trail and was incorporated
into the plan of New Amsterdam. The original width of the street was distinctive
enough to suggest its name. Broadway is paralleled by Church Street (named in
honor of Trinity Church, south of the district), and West Broadway (originally
Chapel Street after St. Paul’s Chapel), both west of Broadway and later widened
to relieve congestion on the main thoroughfare. Two of the cross streets in the
area -- Leonard Street and Anthony Street (later changed to Worth Street) -- were
named after the children of Leonard Lispenard, and one was named for Lispenard
himself. Cortlandt Alley recalls the early landholdings of Jacobus Van
Cortlandt. Other streets honor political figures; Franklin Street® and Franklin
Place were both named after the prominent statesman Benjamin Franklin; Walker
Street commemorates Benjamin Walker, a soldier in the Revolution and a
Congressional Representative; and Worth Street was named for William Jenkins
Worth, considered the first American soldier to enter Mexico City in the Mexican-
American War. Canal Street recalls the early geographic features of the area;
and Sixth Avenue, at the northwestern corner of the district, was cut through to
Franklin and Church Streets in 1930.

By the early nineteenth century, the first phase of urbanization in the
district was underway with the construction of modest, two-and-one-half- and
three-and-one-half-story brick or brick and frame structures in the Federal
style. Built both by speculators and by individuals for their own use, these
houses were typical of those built for middle-class New Yorkers. One of the
surviving structures from this period stands at the northeast corner of White
Street and West Broadway (2 White Street, a designated New York City Landmark).
Constructed in 1808-09, this two-and-one-half-story dwelling was most 1likely
constructed with a shop at the ground floor (since altered). The original owner,
Gideon Tucker, was an assistant alderman, school commissioner, and Commissioner
of Estimates and Assessments who operated the Tucker & Ludlum plaster factory
located at the eastern end of the block. Residences continued to be constructed
in the area through the 1830s, including those which survive at No. 74 Franklin
Street (1815), constructed for John Wood, a merchant; No. 58 Lispenard Street
(1821-22), constructed for coach-maker William Ross and one of only two Greek
Revival buildings remaining in the district; and No. 103 Franklin Street (1833-
34) which was built by James Russell and sold to George Ehninger, a merchant.
These buildings, and all of the other buildings originally constructed as
residences within the district boundaries, were eventually converted to
commercial use.

Houses of worship and other buildings which served the residential
neighborhood were also constructed in the early nineteenth century. One of the
earliest churches built in the area, and the first church constructed in New York
for a black congregation, was the Zion African Methodist Episcopal Church, built
in 1800 at the southwest corner of Leonard and Church Streets (outside the

“This section is based on Minutes of the Common Council of the City of New
York; I.N. Phelps Stokes, Iconography of Manhattan Island 6 vols. (New York,
1915-28); and Henry Moscow, The Street Book (New York, 1978).

SFranklin Street was previously called Sugar Loaf Street in reference to one
of the leading industries in the vicinity. Refineries were located nearby on
Worth, Leonard, Franklin, and Duane Streets.

8



district boundaries).® The Northwest Dutch Reformed Church, also known as the
Franklin Street Church, dedicated in 1808, was constructed on the site of what
is today 107-113 Franklin Street. 1In 1813 the Anthony Street Theater was built
at 81-85 Worth Street at the southern edge of the present-day historic district.
It was replaced in 1822 by Christ Church (Protestant Episcopal). St. Matthew'’s
Lutheran Church was also constructed in 1822; it stood at the southeast corner
of Walker Street and Cortlandt Alley (79-81 Walker Street). In 1826, that
property was acquired by the Christ Lutheran Church, popularly known as the
"Swamp Church."” The last church built in the area during this period was
constructed between 1832 and 1834 as the Eglise du St. Esprit, the successor to
the first French Protestant Church, and stood at the southwest corner of Church
and Franklin Streets, just outside the district boundaries. Also constructed at
this time was the Italian Opera House which stood at the northwest corner of
Church and Leonard Streets (outside the district boundaries). Known as the
National Theater after 1836, it burned in 1839, damaging several neighboring
buildings, including the churches in the immediate vicinity, which were
subsequently rebuilt. The churches which once stood within the present district
boundaries were eventually abandoned by their congregations for uptown locations;
the buildings were subsequently replaced by commercial structures. A single
religious structure now stands in the district; the Civic Center Synagogue at 47-
49 White Street was constructed in 1965-67.

Early Development of the American Textile Industry’

During the eighteenth-century most clothing was made in the home. Only the
wealthiest New Yorkers could afford the luxury of importing finer materials from
England or could commission a tailor or dressmaker to produce clothing to order.
(In areas of the colonies less populous than New York City, tailors were
virtually unknown.) Prior to the Revolutionary War, there were isolated attempts
to develop the colonial textile industry. For instance, the Patriot’s Society
was organized in Manhattan in 1760 to establish economic sanctions against
England; it sought to produce all the yarn and fabric required by New Yorkers.
Though this early attempt to manufacture cloth within the city was initially
somewhat successful, the society was unable to keep up with the excess demand
created by the war. A comparable organization, the New York Society for the
Promotion of Arts, Agriculture, and Economy, was established in 1764 to encourage
the manufacture of linens, and survived for at least three years.®! Additional
societies were organized in other parts of the colonies to accomplish similar
goals.

Events following the war helped advance the American textile industry. In
1788, Samuel Slater arrived in New York from England, bringing with him extensive
knowledge of textile machinery, including the spinning jenny (which could spin
multiple threads simultaneously). Also in that year, the New York Society for
the Encouragement of American Manufactures established the New York Manufacturing

‘African-American communities were established in this general area by the
end of the eighteenth century. The community called Five Points, located near
the Collect Pond, had a large black population. By 1860 the fifth ward had the
second largest black population in the city.

nTextiles" is an inclusive term for fabrics made by various methods. The
term "dry goods" refers to fabrics and related items, as opposed to hardware and
groceries. For more information see: George S. Cole, A Complete Dictionary of
Dry Goods (Chicago, 1894), and C.M. Brown and C.L. Gates, Scissors and Yardstick,
or, All About Dry Goods (Hartford, 1872).

!perry Walton, The Story of Textiles (Boston, 1912), 242.

9



Society which produced cotton yarns, cloth, and linen from 1789 to 1793, in part
at a factory located on Vesey Street. Another manufacturing firm in New York was
Dickson, Livingston & Co., established by David Dickson as early as 1793 on the
East River opposite Hell’'s Gate. (By 1794 the enterprise was known as Dickson’s
Cotton Factory.) Further technical advances were made in the 1790s as Eli
Whitney patented the cotton gin which provided a cheaper and more efficient
method of separating cotton fiber from the seed. This improved processing method
justified the growth of larger cotton crops in the U.S. and shifted the status
of cotton cloth from a luxury item to a standard clothing textile. Also in the
early 1790s, carding machines (which opened, cleaned, and straightened fibers in
preparation for spinning) were being built in New York City by John Daniel, a
European mechanic. Despite these limited attempts at textile production in the
city during the late eighteenth century, the manufacturing element of the textile
industry never obtained a stronghold in New York, due mainly to the lack of
adequate water power. Mills and manufactories were much more successfully
established in New England where sources of water power were abundant.

Because textile mills were typically situated at great distances from the
country’s population centers that maintained the markets for the mills’ products,
the development of an extensive and reliable transportation system was essential
to the expansion of the American textile industry. In the early years of
American textile mills, there were no well-organized methods of marketing and
distribution. The products of the mills were disposed of locally because goods
could not be transported long distances. Improved transportation allowed the
mill products to be shipped to Boston, Philadelphia, Baltimore, and New York,
where dry goods importers, general merchants, and wholesalers in markets other
than dry goods (like ship chandlers) added domestic dry goods to their standard
lines. With the re-establishment of trade following the War of 1812 and the
completion in 1825 of the Erie Canal which connected New York to the interior,
more domestic products reached the major population centers and New York City
began to grow into the country’s major port and trading center.

Through the 1820s and early 1830s, New York City’s dry goods merchants were
established on Pearl Street near the East River docks where imports arrived.
Most of the merchants’ business at this time was conducted through auctions which
quickly distributed the large amounts of imported textiles arriving by ship. The
merchants’ trade involved transactions with American mills which soon relied on
the Pearl Street merchants as outlets for their goods, as well as for financing.
On December 16 and 17, 1835, a disastrous fire raged through the Pearl Street
area, consuming nearly seventeen blocks of wholesale dry goods and grocery
houses, destroying and bankrupting hundreds of mercantile firms.’ Most of the
businesses were uninsured and several years passed before the dry goods trade
fully recovered. The firms which did survive scattered in various locations
around and just north of Pearl Street, many occupying temporary office and
storage space for several years.

The development of the waterfront on the west side of Manhattan was crucial
to the city’s overall mercantile expansion and the recovery of the dry goods
market. In the late 1830s piers were constructed on the Hudson River at the end
of every street between Vesey and King Streets, and freight traffic arriving at
these piers brought a wide variety of goods to New York City. This waterfront
development was driven by the expanded role of the port of New York which had
become the chief port of entry for foreign trade as well as a coastal shipping
hub and distribution center for manufactured goods. By the 1840s New York was
rapidly rising to preeminence as the country’s leading commercial center.

For more information of the Fire of 1835 see Alexander J. Wall, Jr., "The
Great Fire of 1835," New York Historical Society Quarterly Bulletin, 20 (January,
1936), 3-22.
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The development of the railroads on the west side of Manhattan, begun in
the late 1840s, fueled the commercial economy in the Tribeca area, adding to the
diversity of businesses located there. In 1851-53 a large railroad freight
depot, oriented toward tracks along Centre Street, was constructed in the block
bounded by Centre, Franklin, Elm (Lafayette), and White Streets (just outside the
district boundaries). Designed by R.G. Hatfield, the depot was shared by the New
York and Harlem and the New York and New Haven Railroads which operated lines
along the east side of Manhattan. This structure facilitated the distribution
of goods through 1885. The depot constructed in St. John’s Park in 1867, which
came to be known as the St. John’s Freight Terminal, was also conveniently
located for the dry goods trade. It was the principal shipping point for
westbound freight, including goods manufactured in the city, as well as those
recently delivered by ship and bound for the rest of the country. Two of the
terminal’s platforms were used for the transfer of merchandise largely composed
of dry goods.

The area of the district was crossed by a number of passenger street
railways. During the 1870s the Metropolitan Elevated Railway Company built an
elevated steam locomotive system on Sixth Avenue, beginning at Morris Street and
Trinity Place. The train traveled along West Broadway with stops at Chambers and
Franklin Streets, before connecting to Sixth Avenue. Street railways also ran
on Broadway and Church Street.

The Dry Goods Boom in New York City

The Impact of the A.T. Stewart Store. One of the major developments of the
1840s, in terms of both its architectural and commercial importance, was the
planning and construction of the A.T. Stewart Department Store. One of New
York’s wealthiest merchants, Alexander Turney Stewart (1803-1876), opened his
first store at 283 Broadway in 1823, selling Irish lace and notions. As his
business expanded, Stewart moved to larger establishments and in 1846 opened a
newly completed store on the east side of Broadway between Chambers and Reade
Streets. This store, designed by Joseph Trench and John B. Snook, was the first
structure in the area to be built specifically for the sale of dry goods and was,
in effect, the first American department store given its unprecedented scale of
commerce. This fashionable "Marble Palace" differed from other mercantile
buildings previously constructed in the city in its size and in its use of
elegant, expensive materials. A great success, it set the trend for future
commercial architecture, and attracted other similar businesses to the area.!l
Following the completion of the Stewart Store, the section of Broadway to the
north rapidly changed. Broadway between City Hall Park and Madison Square became
the major commercial artery of the metropolis -- the city’s most fashionable
shopping and business district. 1In the late 1840s and 1850s the avenue was the
favorite 1location of shops, saloons, portrait galleries, and cultural

This section was adapted from LPC, Sun Building Designation Report, LP-1439
(New York, 1986) report prepared by James Dillon; and Harry E. Resseguie, "A.T.
Stewart’s Marble Palace -- The Cradle of the Department Store," New-York
Historical Society Quarterly, 43 (1964), 131-162.

IBy 1853, Stewart’s business had expanded so much that his marble palace was
inadequate to meet the needs of both his retail and wholesale businesses. In
1859 he began construction of a new building at Broadway between 9th and 10th
Streets, which opened in 1862. The downtown store was then used for the
wholesale trade, and was later (from 1919-1950) occupied by the offices of the
daily newspaper The Sun. For more information on the architectural significance
of the A.T. Stewart department store, see "The Architectural Development of the
Tribeca East Historic District."
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institutions. Other types of entertainment developed on Broadway, as well, such
as the Gallery of Decorative Art near Franklin Street and Panorama Hall at Walker
Street.

The Dry Goods Economist. By 1846, when the Stewart Store opened, the city’s dry
goods trade had developed to such a point that its merchants could benefit from
the publication of a weekly trade journal to distribute market reports, current
price information, and other news pertinent to their business. In that year, the
Dry Goods Reporter and Commercial Glance, later known as the Dry Goods Economist,
was established to meet this need. The journal’s publishers, anticipating the
success of the port of New York for distributing domestic dry goods, urged the
New England mills and their selling agents to establish branch offices in New
York City for the benefit of all those involved in the textile business. Most
of the dry goods agents were then located in Boston and initially disapproved of
the idea. With continued pressure, the mills opened New York offices, and
benefited from greatly increased sales. This influx of mill representatives was
a milestone in marketing and distribution, as it laid the foundation for an
expanding textile industry.

The Emergence of a Dry Goods District. Following the Fire of 1835, the Pearl
Street merchants sought to re-establish their businesses in one concentrated
commercial district. Competitors needed to be in close contact with each other
to offer buyers the convenience of a central marketplace. With the city’s
continued population growth, residential communities had been steadily moving
northward; businesses followed this northward development pattern and occupied
the former residential neighborhoods. Beginning in the 1850s, the dry goods
merchants relocated to the area north and west of the A.T. Stewart Store,
transforming the residential area to a new commercial district. The first sign
of change was the conversion of the first stories of many residences to
commercial use. The buildings which survive at 35 Walker Street (c.1808) and 74
Franklin Street (1815) exemplify this change in use with the installation of
storefronts at their ground stories in 1851 and 1853, respectively. Additional
alterations were often carried out in association with the insertion of
commercial storefronts. Raising a residence to four or five stories in height
with a flat roof and adding a metal cornice at the top story was a typical
renovation.

As more dry goods businesses moved into the vicinity, the area of the
Tribeca East Historic District began to develop its present architectural
character. The first sustained building campaign of structures erected
specifically for commercial use as store and lofts in the area began in the
1850s. On almost every block within the district boundaries there remains at
least one store and loft building whose construction was begun in that decade.
The earliest examples of these buildings which survive in the district appeared
in 1851-52;'2 No. 300 Canal Street, designed by Trench & Snook for a haberdasher,
and No. 302 Canal Street, designed by John B. Snook (independently) for
paperhanging merchants, were both built to a height of five stories and utilized
the popular Italianate style of the A.T. Stewart Store. An additional two dozen
surviving store and loft buildings were begun before the end of the decade; over
half of them were begun in 1859 alone. In 1857, Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper
commented on these "Mercantile Palaces of New York," describing them as "lordly
marble stores of vast business capacity and of exceeding taste and beauty .
. . the like[s] of which, devoted to the same purpose, no other city in the world

2’statistics are given for surviving buildings constructed within the
district boundaries and do not include buildings which were constructed and
subsequently demolished.
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can show.""” This period of intense construction in the 1850s was the first step
in distinguishing this area as the textile marketplace of the city.

In the 1860s, the area of the district was thoroughly transformed by the
rapidly-growing textile trade. Although the year 1860 showed a significant
amount of new construction in the area (eleven store and loft buildings begun in
that year survive in the district), the following period from 1861 to 1863 was
actually one of decline for the building trades as the nation entered the Civil
War. (Only five store and loft buildings remaining in the district were begun
during that time period.) However, the Superintendent of Buildings described the
commercial structures that were erected in 1863 as "palatial" and of "substantial
character," enabling New York to "vie with the greatest continental cities of
Europe."'* Though during the early years of the war building activity was
diminished, the conflict ultimately served to strengthen the textile industries.
The additional military requirements generated by the war (for soldiers’
uniforms) forced an increase in American textile production in general. The
value of textiles produced by American mills increased significantly between 1850
and 1860, and more than doubled in the next decade, from $203,024,151 in 1860 to
$407,369,227 in 1870.% By the end of the Civil War in 1865, the American
textile industry was firmly established. In that year, the New York Dry Goods
Exchange was founded at 49-51 Park Place.'® The Exchange served as a
headquarters for out-of-town dry goods merchants and to assist them with their
New York transactions. It provided a meeting place for buyers and sellers and
housed a sample room, as well. In 1893 the Exchange occupied offices in the Dry
Goods Economist Building at 78-80 Walker Street (within the district boundaries);
that building was replaced in 1905-07 by the present store and loft building.

Signs of recovery from the war appeared early in the area of the district
where a significant rise in construction occurred in 1864 and 1865; nearly twenty
surviving structures were begun in those years. Buildings constructed in the
district during this period include No. 394 Broadway (1864-65), built for J.W.
Southack, a manufacturer of furniture and mattresses; No. 75-77 Leonard Street
(1865-66), built for Herman D. Aldrich, a prominent merchant who owned several
other properties in the area; and No. 44 White Street (1865-66), built for Aaron
Jacobs, a cloth merchant, and his wife, Elizabeth.

The Peak of the Dry Goods Trade in New York. The rise in the number of store and
loft buildings begun in 1864 and 1865 was only a prelude to the boom in
construction activity of 1866, demonstrated by the nearly thirty store and loft
buildings begun in that year which survive within the district boundaries. Among
these buildings were several on the block bounded by Franklin Place and White,
Church, and Franklin Streets. These buildings display the Italianate and Second
Empire styles and include Nos. 76, 78, and 80 Franklin Street, all attributed to

BrMercantile Palaces of New York," Leslie’s Illustrated Newspaper, June 20,
1857, p.38.

“Yannual Report of the Superintendent of Buildings (New York, 1863), 50.

“Wwhile part of this increase was required to meet the needs of a growing
population, which in New York City more than doubled between 1845 and 1860 --
from 371,223 to 813,669 residents, it does signify a certain advancement in the
textile industry. Wyman Partridge & Co., The Story of Progress in the Dry Goods
Trade (Minneapolis, 1897), n.p.

While an account of the opening of the Exchange is cited in "Opening of the
New York Dry Goods Exchange," New York Times June 30, 1865, p.8, King reports
that the Exchange was incorporated in April, 1893 as a pioneer institution in the
United States. King’s Handbook of New York, 806.
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Samuel Warner, and Nos. 273, 275, 277, and 279 Church Street. While 1866
measured by far the highest degree of construction activity in the district, in
the next three years significant numbers of new store and loft buildings were
also begun. These include No. 87 Walker Street (1868-69), designed by Edward
Wall for prominent banker and developer Samuel D. Babcock, and No. 311 Church
Street (1868-70) designed by Louis Berger for Solomon Deutsch. In 1868 The
Architects’ and Builders’ Guide commented on the high quality of such buildings:

One great feature in which our architects have an advantage over
those of any others in the world, is in the liberal and exalted
notions of our commercial men. Not content with lavishing wealth
upon their private residences, they must also conduct their business
in edifices involving an outlay fit only for palaces. The money
they spent in Church Street and other portions downtown, during only
the last three or four years, is more than the merchants of great
European cities think fit to squander upon their stores and
warehouses during whole generations.!?

The boom in the construction of store and loft buildings in the area of the
district during the 1860s clearly demonstrates a peak in the growth of the
American textile industry and the dry goods trade in New York. It illustrates
the rise of textile production from a handicraft in the home to factory-produced
merchandise (outside of New York City), and it distinguished the area of the
district as the country’s primary mill market.

Late Nineteenth Century Development in the Dry Goods District. The 1870s
witnessed a sharp decrease in building activity in the area of the district,
partially due to the Financial Panic of 1873, but also due to the limited
potential for new development following the extensive construction of the
previous decade. Between 1870 and 1879, only about a dozen new store and loft
buildings were constructed in the district. No. 57 Walker Street, which was
built in 1870 according to the design of D. & J. Jardine for the dry goods and
fancy goods importing business of Gottlieb and Henry Rosenblatt, exhibits the
Second Empire style, which gained popularity in the previous decade. Store and
loft buildings constructed later in the 1870s typically display the neo-Grec
style, such as No. 310 Canal Street built for Jonathan Edwards in 1879, and
designed by John J. Devoe, Jr. Though building activity decreased in the decade
of the 1870s, other developments occurred which facilitated the dry goods trade.
In 1870, the New York Cotton Exchange was established to fix prices, to adopt
classification standards, to disseminate information relative to the trade, and
generally to promote the trade of cotton. In the following year, the Merchants
Club was organized, drawing its membership largely from the textile trade.

The production of textiles by American mills continued to increase
significantly in the 1880s (valued at $500,376,068) and the 1890s (valued at
$693,048,702)."® The 1880s saw a slight increase in store and loft building
construction in the district as compared to the previous decade; nearly twenty
such buildings survive from the 1880s, including No. 332 Canal Street (1883)
which was designed by Jobst Hoffman in the Queen Anne style for John J. Clark.
While store and loft buildings were constructed in the district through the
1930s, the 1880s was really the last decade of concentrated store and loft
building construction in the area.

The Store and Loft Building and the Business of Dry Goods. The decade of the
1860s was clearly the commercial and architectural heyday in the area of the

"John W. Kennion, The Architects’ and Builders’ Guide (New York, 1868), 32.

®Wyman Partridge & Co., n.p.
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district. The store and loft was the most prevalent building type constructed
within the district to accommodate the growing dry goods trade. Many of these
buildings were commissioned by dry goods merchants who then occupied the
buildings. Others were built on speculation and leased to businessmen in the dry
goods trades and other related fields. The typical store and loft building
within the district is usually five stories high, and is designed with ornament
reflecting current architectural styles or with a more utilitarian appearance in
keeping with its practical functions. Cast-iron bay framing at the ground story
allows large openings for the loading and unloading of goods into the receiving
and sales areas of the first floor. Some office space may have been partitioned
off at this level, as well, with additional office space located on the second
floor. The upper stories (and the basement) were reserved for storage space;
merchandise was typically piled high on tables arranged in rows extending the
length of the store. Depending on the nature and size of the business, different
types of goods might be separated on various floors, or in separate buildings
located nearby. In addition to office and storage space, these buildings
typically incorporated space for showrooms where the merchants could display
their products for sale.

In many cases, individual buildings were occupied by more than one firm,
like the building at 76 Franklin Street, which in 1893 was occupied by two
wholesale notions companies, agents for an underwear manufacturer, and two
neckwear companies. While the storage of dry goods was the main use for these
store and loft buildings, some firms did use the spaces for other functions. 1In
some cases, light manufacturing was conducted on the upper floors of store and
loft buildings (which might then be referred to as workrooms or manufactories).
These processes typically required light machinery and could range from the
manufacturing (sewing) of shirts, to the packing of supplies, to the assembly of
umbrellas, collars, or cigars, as was the case at 80 White Street at the turn of
the century.

The Members of the Dry Goods Trade. As the textile trade grew, transactions
became more complicated and occupations became more precisely defined. While the
definitions of these occupations suggest that operations within the textile trade
were quite specific, these various functions were often combined to meet the
needs of specific business establishments. For example, a firm could undertake
importing and exporting while acting as the selling agent for several American
mills. This review of operations demonstrates the diversity of transactions
occurring in the industry in general, and in the Tribeca area specifically. The
manufacturer (usually in a mill) wove, knit, assembled, or performed some other
process which produced a particular type of fabric or related manufactured
article.!” The individuals who owned and occupied the store and loft buildings
in the district all dealt with the manufacturer and his product in one of several
ways, and were dgenerally referred to as merchants. While a merchant is
technically one who buys and sells goods for profit, in the mid-nineteenth
century the term had another, popular, meaning. Merchants were the commercial,
financial, social, and political leaders of the city, recognized as highly-
respected, wealthy citizens. Merchants were generally either importers or
exporters, categories which distinguish between dealers in foreign- or American-
made goods and the destination of the product. Some merchants categorized
themselves as selling agents or as dealers. A selling agent was typically
connected with a specific mill or manufacturer and sold the products of that one
firm. A.D. Juilliard & Company, for example, was the selling agent for the
American Knit Works and had offices at 229-233 Church Street in the late 1870s.?

YThis information was adapted from Cole.

®Jguilliard contributed much of the fortune he made in the textile business
toward the establishment of the Juilliard Foundation of Music.
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A dealer was usually associated with a specific type of goods, and represented
several manufacturers of that product simultaneously for sale to numerous

customers.

An important member of the dry goods trade was the jobber, a businessman
who dealt directly with the manufacturer to purchase goods in bulk and then sell
them to smaller dealers. A jobber might have solicited the assistance of a
broker, who acted as an agent in the formation of contracts between the jobber
and manufacturer. A converter was a jobber who dealt strictly in knitwear. The
firm of Freund & Sterns, which occupied No. 251 Church Street in the late 1860s,
were jobbers in woolen fabrics. This variety of specializations in the dry goods
trade prompted the publication of Sheldon’s City Offices and Jobbing Trade in
1895. A directory of jobbing firms in dry goods and related businesses, it
identified each firm‘’s city of origin, departments of business, and office
address in New York City. This publication documents the far-reaching influence
of the dry goods district; firms based in more than half the states in the
country had office locations within the district boundaries. These companies
included well-known firms, such as the Chicago-based Montgomery Ward & Company,
which offered a wide variety of products for sale, as well as lesser known firms
with smaller lines, such as J.A. Britenstool of Rochester, New York, which dealt

exclusively in pants.?

Like the jobber, a commission merchant also dealt directly with the
manufacturer; however, his large scale business consisted of the sale of goods
on a percentage basis, either in his own name, or in that of the manufacturer.
Commission merchants, such as the Boston-based E.R. Mudge Sawyer & Company (the
original owner of the building at 43-45 White Street), conducted what was largely
a financial operation in which the firm advanced money to the mills from its own
capital and assumed the credit risk of the buyer. 1In this practice, goods were
often in need of temporary storage while transactions were in the process of
completion. Merchants sometimes bought or leased additional buildings to
accommodate these storage needs. In the district, merchants often owned or
leased adjacent buildings or buildings located on nearby blocks. For example,
R. Blackenberg & Co., dealers in linens, occupied 111 Franklin Street and 385-387
Broadway in the 1890s. Sometimes, individual buildings were partitioned for
storage purposes and bonded custodians were appointed to guard the goods within.
This system of partitioning and bonding was also carried out by the manufacturer
when the mill chose to ship its products directly to the buyer, but needed to
preserve the commission merchant’s lien on the goods. Similar to the commission
merchant was the commercial factor who also dealt in large accounts, financing
those mills for which he acted as a selling agent. In the later years of his
career, James Talcott functioned as a commercial factor at 108-110 Franklin

Street.

Unlike the commission merchant and the commercial factor, the wholesaler
(or wholesale merchant) was ultimately concerned with the retailer, rather than
the manufacturer. While he made his purchases from the manufacturer, he bought
outright at the best possible price, then sold in smaller quantities to
retailers. The Williams & Whittlesey Company, a wholesaler in hats and furs,
occupied No. 372 Broadway in the late 1860s.

The Products of the Dry Goods Trade. The products which comprised the textile
industry’s trade were as diverse as its business operations. As the textile
industry grew, goods began to be classifed more precisely, and firms began to
specialize in particular lines. The definition of the term "dry goods" includes
textile fabrics and related items, as opposed to hardware and groceries.
"Textiles" are fabrics made by the processes of weaving, felting, knitting,

llsheldon’s City Offices and Jobbing Trade (New York, 1895).
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braiding, or netting.? The types of fabrics typically handled in the district
were linens (including Irish linens), cottons, white goods (bleached), cloths,
and cassimeres.? William Whiteside, an importer of Irish linens and white goods
occupied 279 Church Street in 1869. The Halsted & Stiles Company imported cloths
and cassimeres at 43-45 White Street in the same year. Fancy goods, which
included notions, laces, ribbons, and trimming, were handled by several firms in
the district, including J. Goodman & Company, which occupied No. 247-249 Church
Street in 1869. Some firms dealt only in notions, which included buttons, pins,
needles, and thread, such as J.0. King & Company at 76 Franklin Street in 1893.
Merchants referred to as haberdashers dealt in ties, collars, ribbons, and other
small articles of clothing.

As the nineteenth century progressed, ready-made clothing grew in
popularity. Initially, only the cheapest types of clothes were purchased ready-
made; sailors and slaves were the first to wear store-bought clothing.
Improvements in the design and manufacture of the sewing machine were realized
by mid-century, allowing the device to be used in the factory production of
clothing. By the turn of the century, the sewing maching had transformed the
textile industry, expanding its scope to include a broad range of ready-made
clothes for individuals of all classes.”? While the problems associated with
manufacturing fabric in New York were too pervasive for such operations to
continue beyond the earliest attempts, some light manufacturing, including the
manufacture of clothing, was undertaken in the store and loft buildings in the
district. In fact, New York grew to become the center of the national market for
the ready-to-wear industry. In the late 1870s, shirts and collars were
manufactured by Klein & Hoexter and the Isaac Rosenstein Company at 103 Franklin
Street (among other companies and locations). Other items produced within the
district included suspenders, cords, and tassels at 79 White Street, gauze
bandages at 253-255 Church Street, envelopes at 225-227 West Broadway, and
umbrellas at 85 Walker and 382 Broadway. Corsets and hosiery (including items
such as stockings, socks, and gloves) were also commonly handled in the district.
Businesses providing boots and shoes, paper and bookbinding, carpets, and cigars
also occupied store and loft space in the district.

Twentieth-Century Development in Tribeca East Historic District

The last major phase of development in the district, begun in the late
nineteenth century, involved the erection of tall office buildings. With the
growing use of the elevator, the benefits of the five-story commercial store and
loft building were diminished and the taller office and loft buildings became a
more economical and efficient commercial building type. The office buildings
constructed within the district boundaries typically housed businesses associated
with those traditionally found in the area. One of the area’s earliest office
buildings was No. 336-340 Canal Street, an eight-story building constructed in
1894-95 for John J. Clark. Other office buildings in the district occupy
prominent corner sites, including the twelve-story Textile Building at 239-245
Church Street (1900, Henry J. Hardenbergh), constructed for the Importer’s
Building Company, and the seventeen-story building at 271 Church Street (1930-31,
Cross & Cross).

Zcole, 115, 351; Gates, 35, 145.

BIn the language of the nineteenth century dry goods trade, a cloth was a
wool fabric. A cassimere was a heavy wool fabric typically used for men’s
clothing.

%paniel J. Boorstin, The Americans - The Democratic Experience (New York,
1974), 91-100.
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In the early years of the twentieth century, some of the dry goods
businesses in the area began to move to uptown locations. James Talcott, a
successful merchant who occupied No. 108-110 Franklin Street beginning in 1868,
was one of these merchants. He moved to 225 Fourth Avenue in 1911, "yield[ing]
to the uptown trend of business."” While some firms may have followed this
historical pattern of Manhattan development, a 1913 map of the Dry Goods District
still focused on the Tribeca area.”® Many of the traditional businesses still
remain in the area today.

As the twentieth century progressed, buildings constructed in the district
tended to combine office space with other functions, such as stores, lofts, and
factories, as at 401-403 Broadway (1929-30, Jardine, Hill & Murdock) and 402
Broadway (1938, Frederic P. Kelley). These were offices for dry goods related
businesses. New bank buildings appeared in the district in the 1920s, and small
commercial buildings were constructed between the late 1940s and the early 1960s.
However, those structures built after the 1930s represent a very small percentage
of total buildings in the district. During the twenty-year span between 1965 and
1985 little changed in the area of the Tribeca East Historic District, as no new
buildings were constructed.

Beginning in the 1970s, artists began to locate in vacated loft spaces in
the district, continuing a trend which had begun further north in the SoHo area.
In 1976 the City Planning Commission proposed a Special Lower Manhattan Mixed Use
District ("LMM"), a zoning designation like that established in SoHo, which
allowed for residential lofts and light manufacturing in the same area.?” The
affected district, as adopted by the City Planning Commission, is a roughly
triangular area south of Canal Street, bounded by West Broadway and Greenwich
Street, extending as far south as Murray Street, with extensions north of Walker
and Hubert Streets to Broadway and West Street, respectively.? The acronym
TriBeCa, for Triangle Below Canal Street, was coined and the name came to be
applied to an area larger than the zoning district, extending east to Broadway
and south to Vesey Street. This was followed in the late 1970s and early 1980s
by the conversion of store and loft buildings to residential cooperatives. In
1988-90 a new twenty-six story apartment condominium called Mandarin Plaza,
designed by Daniel Pang & Associates, was constructed at 374-378 Broadway. The
name of this building and the character of some of its detailing are a response
to the recent expansion of Chinatown (traditionally located east of Tribeca) into
the Tribeca area at the northeast corner of the historic district. This
expansion is also visible in the current occupants of many buildings along
Broadway and Canal Street. 1In association with this sharp rise in residential
use in the district, the ground stories of numerous store and loft buildings have
been turned into retail and restaurant space, adding a new vibrancy to what was
once New York’s most important dry goods district.

Margaret M.M. Pickart

PWilliam Hurd Hillyer, James Talcott: Merchant and His Times (New York,
1937), 156.

%The district’s boundaries were given as Chambers Street on the south, West
Broadway on the west, Bleecker Street on the north, with an eastern boundary
defined by Crosby Street, Lafayette Street, and Centre Street. Sanborn, 1913.

YINYC, City Planning Commission, Manhattan, Calendar, Jan. 28, 1976.
BNYC, City Planning Commission, Zoning Map, 12a and 12b.
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ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE TRIBECA EAST HISTORIC DISTRICT

The architecture within the Tribeca East Historic District is a testament
to the period of New York’s commercial history when this portion of the city
first prospered as an international hub of trade, especially in the dry goods
market. Merchants commissioned builders and architects, acclaimed for their
commercial designs, to produce buildings that were lavish enough to impress
customers yet practical enough to enable easy handling of goods and other daily
activities. BAmong the buildings in the district are many of the city’s cast-
iron-fronted buildings. Cast-iron construction is a forerunner of the steel-
framed skyscraper which has come to symbolize New York; in addition, the
juxtaposition of the iron facades to stone fronts of similar design is
instructive to students of American architecture. The typical building in the
district is twenty-five to fifty feet wide; its five-story facade features a
cast-iron storefront supporting a stone, brick, or cast-iron wall that is pierced
by regularly placed window openings and crowned by a metal cornice. These
facades, of harmonious scale and level of ornamentation, create uniform street
walls divided into one-story bases and four-story upper sections. The
streetscapes are enlivened by diverse design solutions: most of the buildings
which date from the 1850s and early 1860s resemble the Italianate exteriors of
the influential A.T. Stewart Store or the Bowen & McNamee Store, while facades
dating from the later 1860s were influenced by the Second Empire mode popularized
in Paris. Several commercial structures were built which are valuable examples
of the later nineteenth-century styles which also characterize the architecture
of the Tribeca West, SoHo-Cast Iron, and Ladies’ Mile Historic Districts; this
aesthetic bond emphasizes the historic ties among these mercantile areas of
Manhattan. The Tribeca East Historic District remains remarkably intact,
providing today’s inhabitants and visitors with an invaluable view of mid-
nineteenth-century architecture in the service of commerce.

Architects and Builders

The names of the architects who were active in this district have not been
determined in a large part because the construction of the majority of the
buildings predates the founding of the Department of Buildings in the mid-1860s
when official record keeping was instituted. Nonetheless, it has been
established that several important architects were responsible for some of the
structures: James Bogardus, the well-known proponent of cast-iron architecture
(see below); the prominent firm of John Kellum & Son; John B. Snook; the firm of
D. & J. Jardine; Isaac F. Duckworth; brothers Benjamin W. and Samuel A. Warner;
Henry Fernbach; and J. Morgan Slade. Further examples of the work of these
designers are found in other parts of the city, such as the SoHo-Cast Iron and
Tribeca West Historic Districts. The high quality of the designs these men
produced, their connections to specific clients, and the extent of their work in
several commercial districts reflect the increasing professionalization of
American architects and the consequent growing distinction between builders and
architects.

The Architects’ Appendix at the end of this designation report documents
the work of all the architects known to be responsible for buildings in the
district.
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The District’s Earliest Surviving Building Types

The oldest surviving buildings in the Tribeca East Historic District
consist of one Federal-era "dwelling and store," built on a prominent corner lot,
and several Federal-era dwellings that were subsequently converted for commercial
occupants. The former building type is represented by No. 2 White Street (1808-
09, an individually designated New York City Landmark), an important survivor
from an era in the city’s history when a merchant or craftsman lived with his
family above his first-story shop. Although this building has undergone
successive alterations, the upper two levels retain much of their historic
character. Facing White Street, the brick facade features three rectangular
window openings, which are bracketed by stone keyed lintels and sills, a dentiled
wood cornice, and two peaked dormers which project from a gambrel roof. Along
West Broadway, the peaked roofline defines an elevation pierced by four
additional window openings.

Of the surviving converted dwellings, three in particular retain their
historic character: Nos. 35 Walker Street (ca. 1808), 74 Franklin Street (1815,
fig. 1), and 58 Lispenard Street (1821-22). In each case, a three-bay, brick-
fronted dwelling of two or three stories, crowned by a sloping attic story, was
altered later in the nineteenth century for a commercial occupant. Improvements
included the installation of a first-story storefront (typically cast iron), the
conversion of the peaked attic into a full story by the upward extension of the
brick walls and by the replication (or near replication) of the historic
fenestration pattern and details from the other residential stories, and the
addition of a bracketed metal cornice in a then-current style. The resulting
juxtaposition of a base, characterized by openness, and an upper section,
characterized by its smooth brick wall perforated by regularly arranged openings
and terminating in a bracketed cornice, persisted into some of the later so-
called "store and loft" buildings. The continued conversion of dwellings for
commercial use was so widespread that it occasionally prompted attention in the
Annual Report of the Superintendent of Buildings during the 1860s.!

The Store and Loft Building Type

Approximately seventy-five percent of the structures in the district are
store and loft buildings;? their homogeneity as a building group bestows a
particular distinctiveness to the district. Between 1851 and 1892, merchants and
real estate speculators replaced the dwellings and converted dwellings of this
neighborhood with structures specifically built to satisfy the needs of the
city’s growing trade. These buildings have come to be called "store and loft"
buildings, after terms whose meanings have changed over time.? 1In the mid-

'Annual Report of the Superintendent of Buildings (June 1 - Dec. 31, 1862),
9-10; (1863), 53.

’The sum of store and loft buildings and examples of related building types,
such as the store and office building, equals almost ninety percent of the total
building stock in the district. See the section below on related commercial

building types.

3This portion of the essay is adapted from Betsy Bradley’s discussion in
LPC, Tribeca West Historic District Designation Report (New York, 1991), 20-23.
Her sources are: Dictionary of the English Language (London, 1863); William
Dwight Whitney, The Century Dictionary (New York, 1911); Russell Sturgis, A
Dictionary of Architecture and Building, vol. 3 (1902; rpt. Detroit, 1966);
Annual Report (New York, 1867), 290, 295; and New York City Building Codes: 1862,
Chapter 356 of the Laws of New York; 1866, Chapter 873 of the Laws of New York.

20



nineteenth century the verb "to store" had basically the same meaning as it has
today, while the noun "store" was a collective term for a quantity of items
stored or moved together. By later in that century, the words store and
storehouse were commonly used for a place where goods were held for future use.
Store had come also to mean a place where merchandise was sold and this term
began to denote the buildings then being constructed for this specific use.
During the nineteenth century, the word "loft," previously meaning an unfinished
upper story where work such as sailmaking was done, took on the definition of an
upper story of a warehouse, commercial building, or factory, as well as a partial
upper area, such as a hay loft. Loft floors were used for a variety of purposes
including storage, light manufacturing, showrooms, and offices. The common usage
of the term "loft" as a manufacturing loft is a twentieth-century development.

City building codes regulated the size of these buildings and the
construction methods employed. This control addressed fears, expressed in the
Annual Report of 1865, for example, that unregulated building additions and
increasing loads of merchandise and other heavy materials without adequate
structural support endangered public safety. The codes of 1862 and 1866 mandated
thick exterior walls, but allowed the thickness requirements to be met in piers
or buttresses, alternating with a thinner wall between them; this mandate
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